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Location

538-544 COLLINS STREET MELBOURNE, Melbourne City

Municipality

MELBOURNE CITY

Level of significance

Registered

Victorian Heritage Register (VHR) Number

H0478

Heritage Overlay Numbers

HO613

VHR Registration

October 8, 1980

Heritage Listing

Victorian Heritage Register



Statement of Significance

Last updated on - December 8, 1999

What is significant?
The Former New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Company Ltd Building was built in 1909-10
The four storey red brick and freestone building was designed by Oakden and Ballantyne and built by Swanson 
Brothers. The walls are red brick, sitting on a granite plinth, with render around the windows and sandstone 
ashlar blocks at the bottom part of the wall and in some areas around the windows. The building’s prominent 
corner site is accentuated by a heavy corner tower with oriel windows. The windows of the ground and first floor 
are slightly recessed within extended arches featuring stone voussoirs, while balconettes separate the third and 
fourth floors.

How is it significant?
The Former New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Company Ltd Building is of architectural significance to the State 
of Victoria.

Why is it significant?
The Former New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Company Ltd Building is of architectural significance for its 
unusual and eclectic style which is symbolic of a transitional time in Victorian architecture. Its free and eclectic 
use of Classical elements, oversized and ruptured details, broken pediments, over-scaled keystones, 
balustraded balconettes, oriels, combination of contrasting red brick and stone, metal clad cupola with ventilation 
turret and circular and arching windows with stone voussoirs demonstrates a move away from the exotic art-
nouveau/romanesque back towards more conservative Classical styles just prior to WW1. The use of the Free or 
Edwardian Baroque styles in commercial buildings was unusual in Melbourne, and this building is now a rare 
example. The building, particularly the King and Collins Street facades and the cupola with ventilation turret and 
flagpole on the roof, represents an example of excellent early twentieth century craftsmanship, and is a major 
contributor to the Collins Street streetscape.

Construction dates 1909, 

Architect/Designer Oakden &amp; Ballantyne, 

Heritage Act Categories Registered place, 

Hermes Number 740

Property Number

History

<span class="c1">Contextual History:History of Place:<br /> <br /> The site had a varied history prior to the
construction of this building. Between 1860 and 1890 it hosted a police station, a gaol and an Immigrant Depot.
After 1890, uses included a pawnbroker, a warehouse, a woolbroker, a grainbroker, some general carriers and a
commercial traveller's residence. At the turn of the century this site was occupied by a brick store and wooden
shop. Both were owned by Eva Wright.<br /> Associated People:<br /></span> 
Extent of Registration

Historic Building No. 478 The Former New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency Company Limited Building 
(Presently known as Security House) 538 Collins Street, Melbourne (to the extent of the total external fabric of 
the original building having frontages of 21.34m (70 feet) to each of King and Collins Streets).
[Victoria Government Gazette No. 85 8 October 1980 p.3425]



This place/object may be included in the Victorian Heritage Register pursuant to the Heritage Act 2017. Check 
the Victorian Heritage Database, selecting 'Heritage Victoria' as the place source.

For further details about Heritage Overlay places, contact the relevant local council or go to Planning Schemes 
Online http://planningschemes.dpcd.vic.gov.au/
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